

# Citizens for Pennsylvania's Future

The Waterfront Building 200 First Avenue, Suite 200 Pittsburgh, PA 15222-1557

P 412-456-2784

## **VIA CERTIFIED MAIL**

Gina McCarthy, Administrator Environmental Protection Agency Office of the Administrator 1101A 1200 Pennsylvania Ave, N.W. Washington, DC 20460

John Quigley, Secretary PA Dept. of Environmental Protection Rachel Carson State Office Building 400 Market Street Harrisburg, PA 17101

Dr. Karen Hacker, Director Allegheny County Health Department 542 Fourth Avenue Pittsburgh, PA 15219

Mario Longhi, President and CEO United States Steel Corporation 600 Grant Street Pittsburgh, PA 15219 Shawn M. Garvin, Region 3 Administrator Environmental Protection Agency 1650 Arch Street Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029

Susan Malone, Regional Director Southwest Regional Office PA Dept. of Environmental Protection 400 Waterfront Drive Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Hon. Rich Fitzgerald Allegheny County Executive 101 County Courthouse, 436 Grant Street Pittsburgh, PA 15219

Amy Smith-Yoder, General Manager United States Steel Corporation Mon-Valley Works 400 State Street Clairton, PA 15205

Re: Notice of Intent to Sue under the Federal Clean Air Act and/or Article XXI of the Allegheny County Health Department's Rules and Regulations

Dear Administrator McCarthy, Administrator Garvin, Secretary Quigley, Director Malone, Director Hacker, Executive Fitzgerald, Mr. Longhi and Ms. Smith-Yoder:

The following provides notice that Citizens for Pennsylvania's Future (PennFuture) on behalf of itself and its members, intends to file a citizen suit under the Federal Clean Air Act (the CAA), 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. (1970), the Pennsylvania Air Pollution Control Act, 35 P.S. §§ 4001-4015 (APCA), and Article XXI of the Allegheny County Health Department's (ACHD or "the Department") Rules and Regulations, Article XXI, § 2109.11. PennFuture intends to file suit against United States Steel Corporation (US Steel) for ongoing violations of emission standards and limitations at the Clairton Coke Works located in Clairton, Pennsylvania for the period beginning January 2012 and continuing thereafter.

PennFuture is a not for profit public interest organization whose mission is to create a just future where nature, communities and the economy thrive. PennFuture has a business address of 610 North Third Street, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17101, and a local address of 200 First Avenue, Suite 200, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222. This notice is provided on behalf of PennFuture and certain of its members who have suffered and continue to suffer harm as a result of US Steel's failure to comply with emission standards and limitations at the Clairton Coke Works.

#### **BACKGROUND AND PERMITS**

US Steel's Clairton Coke Works is the largest by-products coke plant in North-America, with annual production of about 4.7 million tons of coke. The Coke Works is located about 20 miles south of Pittsburgh along the Monongahela River. The Coke Works has 10 operational coke batteries, each made up of a series of high temperature ovens. The oldest coke batteries in operation at the plant were built in 1955; the most recent began operating in November 2012.

The coke-making process begins when coal is "charged" or deposited into large ovens that bake the coal at very high temperatures. The coal is baked without oxygen to drive off impurities. These gases are captured and transported through a collection system to a byproducts recovery plant, which removes impurities from the coke oven gas for its reuse as fuel to heat the coke ovens. When coke oven gases are returned to the ovens and combusted, the resultant emissions are released through stacks affiliated with each of the 10 batteries. After the coal has been fully baked, the resultant coke is pushed from the ovens into large metal cars that transport the coke to quench towers where the coke is showered with water. Emissions from the pushing operations are captured by vacuum hoods and sent to the pushing emissions control (PEC) baghouse. Emissions from the cars as they transport the coke between the ovens and quench towers are not captured, with the exception of Battery B, which has a shed that covers the entire length of the track. In addition, fugitive emissions may occur at various points in the coking process, such as during the charging of coal and from leaks in oven doors.

The ACHD regulates Clairton's Coke Works as a major source of air pollutants under the CAA, APCA and ACHD Rules and Regulations. Title V Permit No. 0052, issued on March 27, 2012, authorizes air emissions from Batteries 1, 2, 3, 13, 14, 15, 19, 20, and B, and their associated baghouses. Each facility is identified by individual Operating Permit numbers, shown below.

Battery	Permit Number
Battery 1	P001
Battery 2	P002
Battery 3	P003
Battery 13	P007
Battery 14	P008
Battery 15	P009
Battery 19	P010
Battery 20	P011

Battery B	P012
Batteries 1,2,3 PEC System	P050
Batteries 13,14,15 PEC System	P052
Batteries 19 & 20 PEC System	P053
Battery B PEC System	P054

In November 2007, US Steel announced plans to construct a new Coke Battery C at Clairton that would replace existing Batteries 7, 8 and 9, built in 1954. Battery C would have fewer ovens and doors, but each oven would be larger so as to produce 1,107, 384 tons of coke annually. US Steel indicated that Battery C would significantly reduce overall particulate emissions at the facility and meet all environmental compliance standards. Construction of Battery C was to be completed by 2011.

At the same time, US Steel announced plans to construct a new Battery D after the completion of Battery C. Battery D would replace Batteries 1, 2 and 3, built in 1955. US Steel predicted that Battery D would result in similar pollutant reductions to Battery C when it was finished in 2013.

The ACHD issued IP No. I011 for Battery C on July 24, 2008. US Steel completed Battery C and a new low-emission quench tower, behind schedule, in November 2012. When US Steel began operating Battery C, it consistently violated charging emission limitations in IP No. I011. In response to these violations, the ACHD entered a settlement agreement with US Steel that, among other things, allowed the company to continue operating Battery C in violation of its emission limitations until at least April 30, 2016, during which time US Steel was to work on a fix for the problem. The settlement agreement meant that US Steel would be allowed to operate the new facility in continuous violation of the law for up to three and one-half years after operations began.

On September 4, 2009, the ACHD issued IP No. I012 for the proposed Battery D. US Steel had committed in a Consent Agreement to close Batteries 1, 2 and 3 by December 31, 2014 in order to further reduce air pollution at the Clairton Coke Works. At some point, however, US Steel advised the ACHD that it no longer intended to pursue the promised further reductions in air emissions at Clairton, and the ACHD promptly relieved US Steel of its promise to shut down Batteries 1, 2 and 3. Those batteries continue to be operated by US Steel in violation of applicable emission limitations.

#### PAST VIOLATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

US Steel has a history of operating the Coke Works in violation of federal, state and local air pollution laws, and, despite being the subject of a series of enforcement actions, the facility continues to be operated, more than 35 years after enactment of the federal Clean Air Act, in violation of applicable air emission limitations and standards.

As early as 1972, the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection ("PA DEP") sued US Steel for violating the state's air pollution laws at Clairton. The parties resolved that litigation through entry of a Consent Decree on September 25, 1972 that was intended to reduce

particulate matter and sulfur dioxide emissions. Within a year and one-half, the PA DEP had to return to Court in order to seek a civil contempt order for US Steel's violation of the Consent Decree.

On May 22, 1979, the US Environmental Protection Agency ("US EPA") filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania against US Steel, alleging numerous violations of the Clean Air Act. On July 10, 1979, US Steel entered into a Consent Decree settling the case. PA DEP and the ACHD intervened and participated in the settlement agreement. Between May 8, 1981 and June 28, 1985, the US District Court amended US Steel's obligations under the Consent Decree on five separate occasions. Finally, on September 27, 1988, the US District Court entered an entirely new Consent Decree that fully replaced the prior agreements. The 1988 Consent Decree was itself amended twice in 1990 and 1991.

On February 25, 1991, the US EPA again filed a Complaint against US Steel in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania alleging numerous violations of the Clean Air Act and the earlier Consent Decree entered into by US Steel. On June 25, 1993, the United States District Court entered what it titled the "Second Consent Decree" between US Steel and US EPA. The 1993 Consent Decree contained inspection, monitoring, reporting and compliance requirements addressing, among other things, emissions related to charging, leaking doors, off-take pipes, travelling, combustion stacks, quenching, gas desulfurization and venting unburned coke gas. US Steel's obligations under the 1993 Consent Decree terminated on December 31, 1999.

On June 1, 2007, US Steel entered into a Consent Agreement to correct high priority particulate matter violations that ACHD determined were occurring at Battery B since at least September 2005. The Consent Order allowed US Steel until June 2010, or five years since the particulate matter violations were documented by ACHD, to make the repairs necessary to correct the violations. The settlement agreement was not entered as a Court Order.

On March 17, 2008, US Steel entered into another Consent Agreement with ACHD. The 2008 Consent Agreement indicated that US Steel reported violations of combustion stack opacity limits and pushing emission standards, but the Consent Agreement did not state at which ovens these violations were occurring. Nonetheless, US Steel agreed to shut down coke batteries 7, 8 and 9 by December 31, 2012, and to shut down coke batteries 1, 2 and 3 by December 31, 2014. US Steel also committed to, among other things, taking corrective actions at batteries 15, 19 and 20, and to install a new baghouse at screening station no. 3.

On September 30, 2010, US Steel and ACHD entered into a Second Amendment to the 2008 Consent Agreement. The Second Amendment altered the company's strategy for further reducing particulate matter emissions at the facility. US Steel eliminated its plans to shut down Batteries 1, 2 and 3. Instead, the Second Amendment extended coking times at Batteries 1, 2 and 3 and required various maintenance and repair plans to be implemented. The Second

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> US Steel and ACHD entered into a First Amendment to the March 2008 COA on November 19, 2008, but that agreement only addressed corrective actions to be taken at US Steel's Edgar Thompson Works.

Amendment also indicated that US Steel would permanently shut down Batteries 7, 8 and 9 by April 16, 2009. The Second Amendment provided that US Steel was not required to meet applicable air emission limits at Batteries 1, 2 and 3 until December 2013 – a full three years after entry of the agreement. While the Second Amendment required maintenance and repair projects to be implemented at batteries 15, 19 and 20, it did not require that Batteries 19 and 20 meet applicable opacity limits until December 2012 and December 2014, respectively. US Steel agreed to replace the No. 5 and No. 7 Quench Towers with "new Low Emission Quench Towers" by December 2013. Finally, the Second Amendment raised the possibility, based on a series of events, that US Steel would eventually cease using Quench Tower No. 1 or otherwise devise a plan to reduce particulate matter at the plant.

On July 7, 2011, US Steel and ACHD entered into a Third Amendment to the March 2008 COA. The Third Amendment replaced and terminated the June 1, 2007 Consent Order, the March 17, 2008 Consent Order, and the First and Second Amendments to the 2008 Consent Order. The Third Amendment indicated that the facility continued to violate opacity and pushing emission limitations. The Third Amendment re-imposed operational limits for coking times at Batteries 1, 2 and 3, extended the compliance deadline for Batteries 1, 2 and 3 to December 2013, and required various other repairs be performed on Batteries 1, 2, 3, 15, 19 and 20. While the Third Amendment identified violations relating to pushing and travel emissions, the agreement did not require specific corrections designed to prevent further violations. The Third Amendment also stated that US Steel had submitted a protocol for evaluating particulate matter at Quench Tower No. 1, but it contained no requirement that the evaluation be performed. The Third Amendment re-imposed the obligation to install two new quench towers at the plant by December 2013, and suggested the possibility that US Steel may need to cease using Quench Tower No. 1 or otherwise devise a plan to reduce particulate matter at the plant. The Third Amendment was not advertised for public comment or entered as a Court Order.

On May 16, 2012, ACHD entered into an Agreement with US Steel to provide a grant of \$2,913,124.00 to partially defray the costs of installing two new quench towers at the plant.

On August 7, 2014, US Steel and ACHD entered into its most recent Consent Order and Agreement to address continuous charging emission violations at the newly constructed Battery C. The Consent Order allowed US Steel until October 31, 2015 to install a u-tube system on Battery C to address the violations, and until April 30, 2016 to comply with applicable charging emission standards. The Consent Order alleged that US Steel had not conducted a compliance test for the Battery C combustion stack, but the Consent Order did not require that the test be performed. Similarly, the Consent Order alleged that US Steel's operates Battery C in violation of sulfur limits for the PEC Baghouse and Quench Tower, but it does not require compliance with those limits. Instead, the Consent Order requires US Steel to submit an application to "amend" IP 0052-1011 "to address" the violations.

#### **VIOLATIONS**

Article XXI, Section 2105.21 of the Department's regulations establish emission limitations and standards for coke ovens, and gases from coke ovens, "installed, replaced, or reconstructed, or at which a major modification was made on or after January 1, 1978" and "any

other battery of coke ovens." The Clairton Coke Works is also subject to applicable Federal National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants ("NESHAP") under 40 CFR Part 63.

## Battery 1

Battery 1 at the Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations.

Subsection 2105.21.f.3 of Article XXI ("Subsection 2105.f.3") regulates opacity limitations on coke battery combustion stacks. Subsection 2105.f.3 states "No person shall operate, or allow to be operated, any battery of coke ovens in such manner that, at any time, emissions from the combustion stack serving such battery; equal or exceed an opacity of 20% for a period or periods aggregating in excess of three (3) minutes in any 60 minute period" ("20% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks"). Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 1 violated the 20% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 707 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Subsection 2105.21.f.4 of Article XX1 ("Subsection 2105.f.4") further regulates emissions from combustion stacks: "No person shall operate, or allow to be operated, any battery of coke ovens in such manner that, at any time, emissions from the combustion stack serving such battery; equal or exceed an opacity of 60% at any time" ("60% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks"). Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 1 violated the 60% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 106 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Subsection 2105.21.e.5 of Article XXI ("Subsection 2105.21.e.5") limits emissions from hot coke being transported to the quench tower: "No person shall operate, or allow to be operated, any battery of coke ovens unless there is installed on such battery a pushing emission control device which is designed to reduce fugitive emissions from pushing to the minimum attainable through the use of BACT, nor shall any person operate, or allow to be operated any battery of coke ovens in such manner that visible emissions from the transport of hot coke in the open atmosphere exceed ten percent (10%) opacity at any time" ("10% Opacity Limit for Travel Emissions"). Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 1 violated the 10% Opacity Limit for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 67 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Under the July 6<sup>th</sup>, 2011 Third Amendment to the 2008 COA between the ACHD and US Steel (which superseded all prior Consent Order and Agreements), Battery 1 was required to achieve compliance with all standards of Article XXI 2105.21 by December 31, 2013. Of the violations above, 202 of the violations of section 2105.21.f.3 of Article XXI occurred after the compliance date, 27 of the violations of section 2105.21.f.4 occurred after the compliance date, and 12 of the deviations of section 2105.21.e.5 occurred after the compliance date. The ACHD has taken no action to enforce the terms of the Third Amendment to the 2008 COA in Court.

## **Battery 2**

Battery 2 at the Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XI of ACHD's Regulations.

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 2 violated the 20% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 1177 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix B, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 2 violated the 60% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 281 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix B, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 2 violated the 10% Opacity Limit for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 76 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix B, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

Under the July 6<sup>th</sup>, 2011 Third Amendment to the 2008 COA between the Allegheny County Health Department and US Steel (which superseded and terminated all prior Consent Order and Agreements), Battery 2 was required to achieve compliance with all standards of Article XXI 2105.21 by December 31, 2013. Of the violations above, 491 of the violations of section 2105.21.f.3 of Article XXI occurred after the compliance date, and 94 of the violations of section 2105.21.f.4 occurred after the compliance date, and 15 of the violations of section 2105.21.e.5 occurred after the compliance date . The ACHD has taken no action to enforce the terms of the Third Amendment to the 2008 COA in court.

## **Battery 3**

Battery 3 at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XI of ACHD's Regulations.

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 3 violated the 20% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 1332 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix C, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 3 has violated the 60% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 269 times. (Individual

violations and dates are set forth in Appendix C, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

• Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 3 has violated the 10% Opacity Limit for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 79 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix C, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

Under the July 6<sup>th</sup>, 2011 Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order and Agreement between the ACHD and US Steel (which superseded and terminated all prior Consent Order and Agreements), Battery 3 was required to achieve compliance with all standards of Article XXI 2105.21 by December 31, 2013. Of the violations above, 453 of the violations of section 2105.21.f.3 occurred after the compliance date, 95 of the violations of section 2105.21.f.4 occurred after the compliance date, and 16 of the violations of section 2105.21.e.5 occurred after the compliance date. The ACHD has taken no action to enforce the terms of the Third Amendment to the 2008 COA in court.

## **Battery 13**

Battery 13 at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violated applicable emission limitations under Article XI of ACHD's Regulations.

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 13 violated the 20% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 225 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix D, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 13 has violated the 60% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 46 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix D, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 13 has violated the 10% Opacity Limit for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 28 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix D, attached hereto and incorporated herein ).

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order generally identifies pushing and stack opacity violations for the facility without identifying specific dates or sources; it requires no corrective actions at Battery 13.

### **Battery 14**

Battery 14 at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XI of ACHD's Regulations.

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 14 violated the 20% Opacity Limit for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 337 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix E, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 14 has violated the 60% Emission Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 58 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix E, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 14 has violated the 10 % Opacity Limitation for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 46 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix E, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order generally identifies pushing and stack opacity violations for the facility without identifying specific dates or sources; it requires no corrective actions at Battery 14.

## **Battery 15**

Battery 15 at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 15 has violated the 20% Opacity Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 917 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix F, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 15 has violated the 60% Emission Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 172 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix F, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 15 has violated the 10% Opacity Limitation for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 42 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix F, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order requires that US Steel "continue to implement" an "Advanced Patching Plan" at Battery 15. The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order does not compel US Steel to cease violations at Battery 15.

## **Battery 19**

Battery 19 at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 19 violated the 20% Emission Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 317 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix G, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 19 has violated the 60% Opacity Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 79 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix G, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 19 violated the 10% Opacity Limitation for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 121 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix G, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order required Battery 19 to achieve compliance with the opacity standards in Article XXI 2105.21(f) by December 31, 2012. Of the violations of section 2105.21.f.3 above, 255 occurred after the compliance date, and of the violations of section 2105.21.f.4 above, 31 occurred after the compliance date. The ACHD has taken no action to enforce the terms of the Third Amendment to the 2008 COA in court.

### **Battery 20**

Battery 20 at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 20 violated the 20% Opacity Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 184 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix H, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery 20 violated the 60% Opacity Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 44 times. (Individual

violations and dates are set forth in Appendix H, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

• Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, Battery 20 violated the 10% Opacity Limitation for Travel Emissions an aggregate of 113 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix H, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order required Battery 20 to achieve compliance with the combustion stack opacity standards in Article XXI 2105.21(f) by December 31, 2014. Of the violations of Subsection 2105.21.f.3 above, 10 occurred after the compliance date, and of the violations of Subsection 2105.21.f.4 above, 2 occurred after the compliance date. The ACHD has taken no action to enforce the terms of the Third Amendment to the 2008 COA in court.

# **Battery B**

Battery B at Clairton Coke Works has violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations

- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, Battery B violated the 20% Opacity Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 328 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix I, attached hereto and incorporated herein).
- Based on monthly Battery Stack Performance Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between January 1, 2012 and May 31, 2015, 2014, Battery B violated the 60% Opacity Limitation for Combustion Stacks an aggregate of 52 times. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix I, attached hereto and incorporated herein).

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order generally identifies pushing and stack opacity violations for the facility without identifying specific dates or sources; it requires no corrective actions at Battery B.

## Pushing Emission Control (PEC) System for Batteries 1, 2, 3

The PEC System for Batteries 1, 2, 3 uses a moveable fume hood to capture emissions from the pushing of hot coke. US Steel has operated the PEC System for Batteries 1, 2 and 3 in a manner that has violated and continues to violate applicable emissions limitations under Article XXI of the ACHD Regulations.

Subsection 2105.21.e.4 of Article XXI ("Subsection 2105.21.e.4") regulates fugitive and device outlet emissions from the PEC system: "No person shall operate, or allow to be operated, any battery of coke ovens unless there is installed on such battery a pushing emission control

device which is designed to reduce fugitive emissions from pushing to the minimum attainable through the use of BACT, nor shall any person operate, or allow to be operated any battery of coke ovens in such manner that fugitive pushing emissions or emissions from the pushing emission control device outlet equal or exceed an opacity of 20% at any time, except if the Department determines ... that such emissions are of only minor significance" (20% Opacity Limit for PEC Baghouses"). Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel operated the PEC system for Batteries 1, 2, 3 in a manner that violated the 20% Opacity Limit for PEC Baghouses on 37 occasions for Battery 1, 39 occasions for Battery 2, and 41 occasions for Battery 3. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix J, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Section 2105.03 of Article XXI states that "All air pollution control equipment required by this Article or any permit or order under this Article, and all equivalent compliance techniques which have been approved by the Department pursuant to this Article, shall be properly installed, maintained, and operated consistent with good air pollution control practice." (Reduced Efficiency Pushing Standard). Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel operated the PEC System for Batteries 1, 2, 3 in a manner that violated the Reduced Efficiency Pushing Standard on 61 occasions. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix M, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Clairton's Title V Operating Permit No. 0052 B.1.c.1 incorporates Section 2105.03 of Article XXI: "The permittee shall not operate, or allow to be operated Battery 1 or Battery 2 or Battery 3, unless the Battery 1, 2, & 3 PEC System baghouse is properly installed, operated, and maintained according to the following conditions, at all times: Emissions due to the pushing of Battery 1, 2, & 3 coke ovens shall be vented through the PEC System baghouse dust collector." (Continuous Operation Standard). Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and June 30, 2014, US Steel failed to properly operate the PEC System for Batteries 1, 2 and 3, in violation of the Continuous Operation Standard, on 53 occasions, resulting in 5,202 instances of oven pushing emissions not being captured. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix N, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order does not identify violations of applicable emission limitations at the PEC System for Batteries 1, 2 and 3.

# Pushing Emission Control (PEC) System for Batteries 13, 14, 15

The PEC System for Batteries 13, 14, 15 uses a moveable fume hood system to capture emissions from the pushing of hot coke. US Steel has operated the PEC System for Batteries 13, 14 and 15 in a manner that violated and continues to violate applicable emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations.

Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel operated the PEC System for Batteries 13, 14, 15 in a manner that violated the 20% Opacity Limit for PEC Baghouses on 21 occasions for Battery 13,

34 occasions for Battery 14, and 32 occasions for Battery 15. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix K, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel operated the PEC System for Batteries 13, 14, 15 in a manner that violated the Reduced Efficiency Pushing Standard on 47 occasions. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix M, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel failed to properly operate the PEC System for Batteries 13, 14, 15, in violation of the Continuous Operation Standard, on 68 occasions, resulting in 4,681 instances of oven pushing emissions, including particulate matter, carbon monoxide, mono nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides, volatile organic compounds, and benzene, not being captured. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix N, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

The Third Amendment to the 2008 Consent Order does not identify violations of applicable emission limitations at the PEC System for Batteries 13, 14 and 15.

# Pushing Emission Control (PEC) System for Batteries 19 & 20

The PEC System for Batteries 19 and 20 uses a moveable fume hood system to capture emissions from the pushing of hot coke. US Steel has operated and continues to operate the PEC System for Batteries 19 and 20 in violation of multiple emission limitations under Article XXI of ACHD's Regulations.

Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel operated the PEC System for Batteries 19 and 20 in a manner that violated the 20% Opacity Limit for PEC Baghouses on 126 occasions for Battery 19, and on 94 occasions for Battery 20. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix L, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel operated the PEC System for Batteries 19 and 20 in a manner that violated Reduced Efficiency Pushing Standard on 59 occasions. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix M, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

Based on Semi-Annual Reports submitted by US Steel to ACHD, between March 27, 2012 and December 31, 2014, US Steel failed to properly operate the PEC system for Batteries 19 and 20, in violation of the Continuous Operation Standard, on 87 occasions, resulting in 1,659 instances of oven pushing emissions, including particulate matter, carbon monoxide, mono nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides, volatile organic compounds, and benzene, not being captured. (Individual violations and dates are set forth in Appendix N, attached hereto and incorporated herein)

### AGGREGATE EMISSIONS AND HEALTH EFFECTS

During the period covered by this notice, US Steel has operated the Clairton Coke Works in a manner that violated applicable emission limitations intended to protect public health safety and welfare and the environment on approximately 6700 occasions. The pollutants from the hundreds of ovens, ten combustion stacks, and multiple baghouse and quench tower stacks at the facility cause impacts that affect persons living miles from the facility. At a health level, the violations documented in this notice mean that excess particulate matter and other pollutants are regularly being emitted into the air and inhaled by local citizens, likely resulting in an elevated risk of cardiovascular disease, lung disease, various cancers including lung cancer, chronic asthma and other illnesses that increase mortality and morbidity rates.

#### Particulate Matter

According to the World Health Organization, PM 2.5 contains sulfate, nitrates, ammonia, sodium chloride, black carbon, mineral dust and water. These tiny particles are able to lodge deep into the lungs, where they can increase the risk of developing or exacerbating both short and long-term health problems. Short term concerns include eye, nose, throat and lung irritation, coughing and shortness of breath. Long term impacts include reduced lung function, aggravated asthma, chronic bronchitis, irregular heartbeat, nonfatal heart attacks and cancer. Increases in PM2.5 concentrations have also been linked to increased hospitalizations for cardiovascular and respiratory problems and increased rates of mortality and morbidity. The ACHD has stated that particulate matter emissions in the Liberty-Clairton area are dominated by the U.S. Steel Clairton Coke Works.

On each occasion that the combustion stacks, PEC baghouses, and processes related to charging, pushing, and traveling of hot coke to quench towers exceed emission limitations, the facility releases excess particulates into the air. These emissions are in addition to those levels emitted as allowed under the facility's operating permits. According to US Steel's emissions inventory, the Clairton Coke Works released 527 tons of PM 10 and 342 tons of PM 2.5 into the atmosphere in 2013.

## **Volatile Organic Compounds**

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are released during several stages of coke making operations. The highest VOCs emissions are seen from the combustion stacks, charging operations and door leaks. VOCs can cause harm as a component of particulate matter and in their own right. In addition to direct exposure concerns, VOCs react in the atmosphere with nitrogen oxide emissions to form ozone. Ozone exposure, even at low levels, can trigger adverse health effects in children and healthy adults, including respiratory inflammation, chest pain, coughing and pulmonary congestion. Ozone can also aggravate lung diseases such as bronchitis, emphysema, and asthma. Repeated exposure to ozone may permanently scar lung tissue. According to US Steel's emissions inventory, the Clairton Coke Works released 306 tons of VOCs into the atmosphere in 2013.

## Nitrogen Oxide

The Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) emissions released from the combustion stacks, travel operations and PEC baghouses not only constitute a health hazard, but also contribute to ozone pollution. Nitrogen oxides can irritate the lungs and lower resistance to respiratory infections. In addition to human health impacts, NOx in combination with other emissions are known for their contribution to acid rain, which negatively impacts our waterways. Violations of the combustion stack opacity limitations can lead to increased amounts of NOx entering the atmosphere and the lungs of local residents. According to US Steel's emissions inventory, the Clairton Coke Works released 3632 tons of NOx into the atmosphere in 2013.

## Sulfur Dioxide

Clairton Coke Works emits high amounts of sulfur dioxide ("SO2") from its combustion stacks, PEC baghouses, travel operations and quench towers. Current scientific evidence links short-term exposures to SO2 with breathing problems, respiratory illnesses and exacerbation of existing cardiovascular disease among other concerns. The US EPA relies on studies showing a connection between short-term exposure to SO2 and increased visits to emergency departments and hospital admissions for respiratory illnesses, particularly in at-risk populations such as children, the elderly, and asthmatics. According to US Steel's emissions inventory, the Clairton Coke Works released 1,603 tons of SO2 into the atmosphere in 2013.

Based on the information contained in this notice, PennFuture has reason to believe that US Steel continues to operate the Clairton Coke Works in violation of the Federal Clean Air Act (the CAA), 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. (1970), the Pennsylvania Air Pollution Control Act, 35 P.S. §§ 4001-4015 (APCA), and Article XXI of the Allegheny County Health Department's (ACHD or "the Department") Rules and Regulations, Article XXI, § 2109.11. PennFuture reserves all rights to amend this notice and identify additional claims as further facts are developed. If you believe that any of the facts described in this notice are in error or if you have any information indicating that US Steel has not violated the above laws and regulations, we urge you to contact the undersigned counsel immediately. PennFuture is interested in early and prompt resolution of these violations.

Sincerely,

George Jugovic, Jr. Chief Counsel